#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION,

Appellant,

Vs.

CASE NO. 80,286

KAY E. GLASSER, JANICE K. MEE, NANCY C. DETERT, E. LEE BYRON, and M. JANE HARTMAN, individually and as members of the School Board of Sarasota County, Florida,

Appellees.

#### AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

SYDNEY H. MCKENZIE, III GENERAL COUNSEL

BARBARA J. STAROS DEPUTY GENERAL COUNSEL FLA. BAR NO. 255106 Department of Education The Capitol-Suite PL08 Tallahassee, FL 32399-0400 (904) 488-7707

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This suit was instituted by the School Board representing one of the most wealthy school districts in Florida (R-1-9) against a single defendant, the Tax Collector. 1

Curiously, the Department of Education, the proper party, the party which has the responsibility for administering education, the party knowledgeable about the issues of school finance and public policy to achieve equity in school finance and the party joined in other similar litigation brought in Florida, was not given notice until the day before the only hearing in this case.

The School Board sought declaratory relief against the Tax Collector, challenging the validity of a state law governing educational finance and an item of the Appropriations Act of 1991, both laws of statewide importance which are fundamental in the very complex arrangements under which schools are financed and equity between school districts is achieved.

The School Board and Tax Collector agreed to an expedited final hearing (R-13-15) without informing or consulting the Department or the Attorney General.

On the afternoon of the day before the expedited final hearing, the Department was given notice, via facsimile, that the expedited final hearing was to be held the following day, June 27, 1991. Neither the Attorney General nor the Department was served with process in this matter. (R-29-32.)

<sup>1/</sup> The Tax Collector of Sarasota County had no knowledge of the issues in this case and has been decidedly indifferent to the outcome in which the Tax Collector has no stake.

At the expedited final hearing, the Attorney General sought dismissal or, in the alternative, a continuance of the expedited final hearing until a proper party-defendant could be served with process and be properly prepared, on the basis that the Tax Collector has only ministerial duties as they relate to school funding. The trial court denied these motions. (T-12, lines 15-16.)

At the conclusion of the expedited final hearing, the School Board presented the trial court with a proposed final order, which had not been furnished to any state agency. (T-51-52, lines 22-25, 1-3.) That order, prepared by the School Board's counsel before the hearing, was signed by the judge. It held that §236.25(1), Fla. Stat., and §1, item 509 of Ch. 91-193, Laws of Fla., violated Art. III, §§6 and 12, and Art. IX, §4 and Art. VII, §9, Fla. Const. (R-58-65); (A-1-8.)

On July 8, 1991, the Attorney General moved the trial court for Rehearing and Clarification of its June 27, 1991, Order. (R-36-38.) On July 9, 1991, the Department moved to intervene. (R-39-43.) On July 16, 1991, the respective parties Stipulated to Intervention of the Department as a party-defendant and, on July 16, 1991, the Court made the Department a party-defendant. Thereafter, the Attorney General withdrew the Motion for Rehearing and Clarification (R-44-45) and appealed to the District Court. (R-66-67.)

The trial court granted the School Board's Motion to Vacate Automatic Stay (R-53-54), allowing it to levy and collect

the millage but requiring that the money be held in a special reserve account until this matter is finally resolved.

On July 31, 1992, the District Court entered its decision declaring §236.25(1), Fla. Stat. (1989), and §1, item 509 of Ch. 91-193, Laws of Fla., as it related to the levy of a nonvoted operating discretionary millage, unconstitutional under its reading of Art. VII, §9, and Art. IX, §§1 and 4, Fla. Const. (A-9-23). Although there was no mention of the trial court's holding that the Appropriations Act violated Art. III, §§6 and 12, Fla. Const., the opinion affirmed the trial court opinion and that question is therefore presented in this appeal.

The Department timely filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court on August 5, 1992, and on September 11, 1992, filed its Initial Brief. The School Board moved to strike the Department's brief, arguing that the brief included material which was not part of the record in the lower courts. The Department responded, noting that the materials objected to were mostly public records and regularly published reports of the Department of Education which illustrated the great inequity in property wealth between school districts. The Court granted the School Board's motion and ordered the Department to file a new brief and appendix. The brief now filed has eliminated all the material identified in the School Board's motion and, therefore, the inequities between the school districts will not be addressed by reference to any actual numbers or dollar amounts.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

constitutional history Florida's political and demonstrates that the legislature has the power to determine school millage, that this power has been used over the course of years (even by the very legislature which adopted the 1968 revision) and that this power is important in achieving equity between rich and poor school districts under the constitutional ideal of a "uniform system of free public schools." Article IX, §1, Fla. Const. legislative power over school district millage comes from the general legislative power (Art. III, §1, Fla. Const.) and the Taxation Article (Art. VII, §§1, 8, and 9, Fla. Const., ". . . school districts . . . shall . . . be authorized by law to levy ad valorem taxes . . . "). These provisions leave no doubt that the legislature is empowered to control millage (and strive for equity in school finance) and the history of the drafting confirms this.

There are over thirty parallel constitutional provisions giving authority to the legislature and case law construing those provisions demonstrates that the Constitution confers on the legislature power over school millage. To construe it otherwise renders Art. VII, §9(a), Fla. Const., meaningless. The District Court erred in holding §236.25(1), Fla. Stat., unconstitutional.

The trial court erred in holding that the 1991 Appropriations Act violated constitutional principles of single subject and the District Court erred in affirming that judgment. The setting of school district millage, like the setting of salaries, does not modify other general law.

Finally, the Department should have been joined in the law suit under principles requiring the joinder of proper parties and the provision of adequate notice.

#### ARGUMENT

I.

## FLORIDA'S CONSTITUTIONAL HISTORY DEMONSTRATES THAT THE LEGISLATURE HAS AUTHORITY TO EQUALIZE MILLAGE

This Court has for determination the question of whether the legislature has the authority, within constitutionally defined limits, to determine school board millage. To answer this question, the Court must deal with the Florida Constitution provisions on taxation (Art. VII, §9, Fla. Const.) and education (Art. IX, §§1: "Adequate provision shall be made by law for a uniform system of free public schools. . . " and 4(b), Fla. Const.) These sections are noted in the opinion of the District Court of This case also implicates three sections of Constitution not mentioned in the opinion below -- the authority of the legislature, (Art. III, §1, Fla. Const.: "The legislative power shall be vested in a legislature of the State of Florida. . ."), the basic principle of legislative authority over taxes (Art. VII, §1, Fla. Const.: "No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law"), and the principle that state funding to local governments may contain conditions, (Art. VII, §8, Fla. Const.: "State funds

may be appropriated to the . . . school districts . . . upon such conditions as may be provided by general law.")

The District Court does not treat any of these constitutional provisions in the context of their history nor the context of their practical operation. Since these perspectives are essential for a proper determination of the case, the Department will review the history of public education and school finance, demonstrating that the issues of school finance, property tax concern, and legislative power all converged in the period 1966-68 when the Florida Constitution was being revised.

A. The History of Educational Finance Supports the Construction of Legislative Power Urged By The Department of Education.

Historians do not often praise the turbulent period in the South following the Civil War -- the Reconstruction Era -- ("the peace which passeth all understanding") yet there was one great and enduring program introduced in this period -- state-supported free public education. Florida can trace its statewide commitment to public schools to Reconstruction and the constitutional provisions for public education first appeared in Art. VIII, Fla. Const., (1868):

Section 1. It is the paramount duty of the State to make ample provision for the education of all the children residing within its borders, without distinction or preference.

Section 2. The Legislature shall provide a uniform system of common schools, and a university, and shall provide for the liberal

maintenance of the same. Instruction in them shall be free.

Happily for public education, the Democratic administration which came to power at the end of Reconstruction in 1876 was also convinced that public education was important for the future of the state and a large part of the struggle to achieve a system of public education was a struggle over millage caps on education.<sup>2</sup>

The legislative reduction of authorized school millage (a reduction from 5 mills to 2.5) in the 1879 legislature was followed soon afterwards (in 1881 and 1883) by a powerful campaign led by Governor Bloxham to provide state funding for teacher training, special education programs, and even support for federal funds to "help the South reduce illiteracy and educate black children." White, pp. 9, 10.

This battle over millage limitations and state funding has been a feature of the struggle for educational improvements since this early time. The authority of the legislature to weigh the merits of state versus local funding for public school education has also been informed by the continuing struggle to achieve equalization among school districts. By "equalization," school finance experts refer to the attempt to achieve equity in

<sup>2/</sup> Governor George Drew, elected as Governor in 1876, appointed William P. Haisley as superintendent of public education and Haisley stayed in office until 1881. One of Haisley's great fights was lost when the legislature in 1879 reduced millage caps. Arthur O. White, One Hundred Years of State Leadership in Florida Public Education (Florida University Presses, 1979) p.7. Hereafter, cited as "White."

funding of education where property taxes are used in part to fund education and where there is so much disparity between counties in the yield of a mill. The disparity in wealth available to school districts through the property tax base presents a significant problem for a legislature which seeks to carry out the constitutional mandate for a "uniform" system of public education. Article IX, §1, Fla. Const. See §236.012, Fla. Stat.

The quest for equalization and for a way to achieve a "uniform system of free public schools" has been through many steps in Florida. We can pick up the story of that quest in modern times by turning to the period of World Was II and the stewardship of Governor Spessard L. Holland (1940-44) whose record of supporting new revenue sources for school finance, the creation of a teacher retirement system, and other measures allowed him to campaign for office as the "champion of Florida teachers." White, 114. Governor Holland, supported by a Florida Education Association funded Brookings Institution study, carried forward a program of education reform which was based on the concept that "counties and districts should be compelled to carry their share of the costs of public schools to the full limit of their abilities." White, p. While Governor Holland supported increased state resources for education, he also worried about the tendency of state funding increases to cause an imbalance, taking Florida schools away from the constitutional ideal of a "uniform system of free public schools." Indeed, Governor Holland resisted a flat increase in the funding in part "because the required method of distribution

according to average daily attendance <u>directed too many state</u> <u>dollars to property rich counties</u>. . . White, p. 115, emphasis added.

The program of educational improvement advocated by Governor Holland was popular with many people but, to the extent that it relied on increased local millage, "urban county legislators promised a hard fight" and their cause was millage limitations. White, p. 117. Holland, concerned with improvement in education but sensitive to the problems of equalization, decided to support enactment of a constitutional amendment to limit state and local millage to ten mills. White, p. 117. This full program was not enacted but there were further improvements in the state funding of public education.

The next governor, Millard Caldwell (1944-48) was an even greater friend of education in Florida and the emergence of Florida's economy in the post World War II years helped the movement which was led by a citizens committee with exceptional staff support and by legislative leadership (particularly Senator LeRoy Collins) who shared this vision of an improved education system. White, p. 121. The 1947 report of the citizen's committee provided a comprehensive blueprint for the improvement of Florida public schools and introduced a new approach to school finance. Their approach, which was called the Minimum Foundation Program ("MFP") was to make state money available to fund the teaching units with the distribution each county would receive depending on the wealth of the county. White, p. 122. As LeRoy Collins'

biographer notes, "Reformers wanted to equalize educational support between the wealthy and poor counties. . ." Since the assessment practices were widely known to be haphazard and at great variance from county to county, the MFP program relied on a calculation known as the "index of tax-paying ability" to measure the relative wealth of counties. White, p. 122.

The program was not without controversy. White reports (p. 123): "[r]epresentatives of wealthier counties told business clubs and PTA meetings of their opposition to transferring school taxes from wealthy counties to impoverished ones." But the program which contained the equalization feature passed the legislature and was widely praised:

In July 1947 The Nation's Schools called Florida's MFP 'nothing short of miraculous.' The NEA Bulletin praised Florida for attaining in one law what would have taken most states several laws and several legislative sessions. The Ladies Home Journal stated that Florida was an example to any other state 'wanting to lift itself up by its educational bootstraps.' Requests poured into the DOE for copies of the MFP and within a few years, forty-four states had followed the Florida example in enacting the MFP.

White, p. 125.

The next Governor of Florida, Fuller Warren (1948-52), did not advance new educational programs but, faced with increasing demands for state funds occasioned by Florida's post-war growth, put aside his posture of "frontier frugality" and helped enact the

<sup>3/</sup> Tom Wagy, <u>Governor LeRoy Collins of Florida: Spokesman of the New South</u> (University of Alabama Press 1985), p. 31.

first general sales tax legislation which helped maintain the MFP. White, p. 129. The debate about school finances continued under Governor Dan McCarthy who was required to deal with another problem of equalization, that which existed between segregated schools. During this period, there were a number of United States Supreme Court decisions striking down as unconstitutional systems of segregated education which were clearly not equal, and the fear of similar decisions in Florida undoubtedly caused the pace of equalization to accelerate. See Brown v. Board of Education of Topeka, 347 U.S. 483 (1954).

The brunt of desegregation fell on Governor LeRoy Collins (1954-1960) who was elected to fill Governor McCarthy's term after his death and who went on to be reelected to a full term. Remarkably, Governor Collins was able to greatly advance public education during this time of crisis. In 1957, Governor Collins achieved teacher pay raises, funds for rural classroom construction, exceptional education, and adult education. Governor Collins was justifiably proud, describing it as "the best effort for schools made by any state in the country this year and the biggest thing for Florida since the 1947 MFP." White, p. 139.

But, despite these advances, public support for education became mixed up in the desegregation battle which remained through

<sup>4/</sup> White, pp. 132-134. This problem is interesting in the state constitutional law context because it is likely that the framers of the 1868 Constitution (during the Reconstruction era) contemplated that the word "uniform" applied to public schools would protect all students in both black and white schools. See White, pp. 1-7.

the Collins years and into the term of his successor, Farris Bryant (1960-64). Governor Bryant's administration saw increased state funding for teacher salaries and textbook purchases but, overall, support for the public schools deteriorated during his years in office. White, p. 146.

When Governor Hayden Burns began his two-year term (1964-66), he was pledged to no new taxes and he was able to kill efforts to increase state support for education "by fusing traditional North Florida opposition to high taxes with a growing resentment among South Floridians that the MFP acted as a subsidy to rural counties that continued to underassess their property and to turn down school bond issues." White, p. 147. The Bryant and Burns years were very thin years for public education and the legislature, reacting to the fear of rising property taxes, enacted a millage rollback law in 1965.

In late 1966, with an upcoming election for a reapportioned legislature and a new governor, two conflicting political pressures were growing: First, neglect of public education during the Bryant and Burns years left schools in bad shape, some even losing accreditation, and, second, the great growth in Florida occasioned an increase in property values and, thus, property tax assessments which threatened many Floridians. This fear of increased property taxes escalated after this Court's January 1967 decision, holding that constitutional provisions for

<sup>5/</sup> White, p. 147. See Chs. 65-258, 67-395, and 67-396, Laws of Fla. See also Ch. 63-250, Laws of Fla.

equality and uniformity in taxation allowed a taxpayer's challenge to property taxation based on allegations of systematic underassessment. <u>Dade County v. Salter</u>, 194 So.2d 587 (Fla. 1967).6

The issues of property taxes and school financing dominated the political scene in many Florida counties at precisely the time that Governor Burns' term came to an end and Governor Claude Kirk was elected. The 1966 campaign (and the special "full apportionment" special legislative election early in 1967) brought to office the people who voted to send the 1968 revision of the Florida Constitution to the ballot.

B. The Florida Constitution Was Revised
At A Time When Tax Policy and School
Funding Issues Were At The Top Of The
Agenda Of the Newly Apportioned Legislature.

Although property tax questions were a dominant issue in most counties and the dominant issue in some counties, there were other very significant political developments which converged on

The <u>Salter</u> case was followed by others which ultimately spelled out the duty of tax assessors to assess at full value. The resulting panic among taxpayers fed the fear that property taxes would become too burdensome. <u>Powell v. Kelly</u>, 223 So.2d 305 (Fla. 1969), <u>St. Joe Paper Co. v. Brown</u>, 223 So.2d 311 (Fla. 1969).

The legislative interest in this issue is demonstrated by the fact that the 1966-68 House of Representatives had a separate committee for Ad Valorem Taxation.

<sup>7/</sup> We have seen that the equalization in school finance has been an issue from the earliest days of our public school system and this issue required legislative control over school millage. The tax assessment crisis of the early 1960's was another reason for the legislature to retain control over property taxes.
See, Dade County v. Dickinson, infra, p.p. 17-19.

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