047

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE

DEC 1 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 80,286

KAY E. GLASSER, et al.,

Appellees.

Appeal from the District Court of Appeal Second District of Florida

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES,
KAY E. GLASSER, JANICE K. MEE, NANCY C. DETERT,
E. LEE BYRON, and M. JANE HARTMAN, individually and as
members of the School Board of Sarasota County, Florida

A. Lamar Matthews, Jr.
FB# 051390
Jeanne S. Medawar
FB# 0655856
Arthur S. Hardy
FB# 0721492
MATTHEWS, HUTTON & EASTMOORE
1777 Main Street, Suite 500
Post Office Box 49377
Sarasota, Florida 34230
(813) 366-8888

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

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

This lawsuit concerns a purely local issue--the extent to which the School Board can raise money locally for the funding of its schools. In this action the School Board does not seek to alter the amount of funds going to or coming from the State in any way; instead, it simply seeks the right to exercise its own constitutional authority to raise revenue from its own local citizens for its own local schools.

The district court properly declared unconstitutional the Legislature's attempt to usurp the right of the School Board to levy nonvoted discretionary millage within the 10 mill limit set by the Florida Constitution. Both Article VII, section 9, and Article IX, section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution expressly authorize school boards, not the Legislature, to levy up to 10 mills of ad valorem taxes. Pursuant to Article IX, section 4(b) of the Constitution, the School Board is empowered to determine the rate of school district taxes within the limits prescribed in Article VII, section 9. The Legislature may not constitutionally preempt the School Board from levying ad valorem taxes by placing restrictions on the School Board's right to independently determine millage rates. See Mallard v. Tele-Trip Co., 398 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 411 So.2d 384 (Fla. 1981).

The district court, citing <u>St. Johns County v. Northeast</u> <u>Florida Builders Association, Inc.</u>, 583 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1992), correctly held that the levy of ad valorem taxes by school districts up to the constitutional 10 mill limit does not conflict

with the constitutional mandate of a "uniform" system of free public schools. The Constitution does not require that every school district receive equal funding nor does it require all school districts to keep their educational programs at an artificially low level for the sake of "uniformity."

Further, Section 236.25(1) and Section 1, Item 509, are unconstitutional because substantive law is injected into an appropriations bill in violation of Article III, section 12 of the Florida Constitution. See Gindl v. Department of Education, 396 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 1979). Additionally, Section 1, Item 509 is unconstitutional to the extent that it seeks to amend Section 236.25(1) by reference to its title or number only in violation of Article III, section 6 of the Florida Constitution. The trial court properly found that Section 1, Item 509, attempts to revise the statutory formula set forth in Section 236.25(1), an existing substantive law, by reference to its number only in violation of Article III, section 6.

The State Attorney was properly notified of the School Board's complaint for declaratory relief in accordance with Section 86.091, Florida Statutes. The trial court, therefore, correctly denied the Attorney General's motion to dismiss, or in the alternative, to postpone. Further, DOE, with the stipulation of the School Board, intervened below and had the opportunity to be heard but, instead, the Attorney General, who has appeared and actively participated throughout these proceedings, withdrew his motion for rehearing and filed this appeal on behalf of DOE.

Contrary to DOE's argument, Barbara Ford-Coates was not merely a nominal defendant; she has a keen interest in this proceeding. As the Tax Collector for Sarasota County, Ms. Ford-Coates is a constitutional officer charged with the responsibility of billing and collecting all validly assessed ad valorem taxes. See \$\$197.332, 237.091, Florida Statutes. The district court properly concluded that DOE was not an indispensable party to this action and that the trial court correctly entered judgment on the School Board's request for declaratory relief.

#### V. ARGUMENT.

A. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT SECTION 236.25(1), FLORIDA STATUTES, AND SECTION 1, ITEM 509 OF CHAPTER 91-193, LAWS OF FLORIDA, ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL TO THE EXTENT EACH ATTEMPTS TO LIMIT THE RIGHT OF SCHOOL BOARDS TO LEVY DISCRETIONARY MILLAGE WITHIN THE 10 MILL LIMIT SET BY THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

This case concerns one school board's attempt to regain some measure of local control over the funding of its own schools so that it can raise additional local money to improve educational opportunities for its district's school children. DOE argues that no such local financial decision-making should be permitted and, indeed, the Legislature, notwithstanding constitutional directives to the contrary, has attempted to effectively remove all local control over education funding by strictly limiting school boards' authority to levy ad valorem taxes. As both the circuit and district courts agreed, such a broad usurpation of power by the Legislature violates the Florida Constitution's clear grant of authority to school districts to levy ad valorem taxes for school purposes within the Constitution's ten mill limit. The district court's thorough analysis and well reasoned opinion should be affirmed.

In its amended initial brief, DOE devotes the entire first section of its argument to a discussion of the views held by various former governors of Florida on education funding and property taxes. While DOE's attempted historical dissertation offers more of a cursory summary of Arthur O. White's book, One Hundred Years of State Leadership in Florida Public Education, than a cogent analysis of the issues before the Court, it is useful in

highlighting the fact that free public education has been a fundamental right of school-aged children in Florida for over a century.

Although DOE accurately recognizes that free public education is a "great and enduring program" dating back to the Florida Constitution of 1868, the remainder of its recapitulation of Mr. White's historical analysis is misleading in the context of this case. DOE's brief portrays an ongoing struggle between "rich" and "poor" school districts fighting over the same limited financial resources. In this conception, the Legislature and DOE act as virtuous Robin Hoods taking education dollars from "rich" districts to give to "poor" districts in an effort to equalize funds available for education. DOE, with its repeated references to Sarasota as a "rich" district, thus implies that Sarasota is somehow trying to selfishly hoard its resources and oppose "poor" districts' attempts to improve their children's educational opportunities. This implication is absolutely false.

DOE praises former Governor Spessard Holland for his work in supporting strong educational goals and for his belief that counties and school districts should bear their share of public school costs to the full limit of their abilities. DOE brief at 8. This is precisely what the School Board of Sarasota County is attempting to do. The School Board is trying to maintain and improve its schools in the face of draconian state budget cuts in the only way it can--by increasing the financial burden on its own local residents. The School Board, with remarkable popular

support, is raising money locally for local use. In so doing the School Board has not sought to alter the amount of funds going to or coming from the State in any way; instead, it simply seeks the right to exercise its constitutional authority to raise additional revenue from its own local citizens for its own local schools. In this way, the School Board is merely seeking to insure that all children of Sarasota County will be able to obtain what is and has been their fundamental right for over 100 years, the right to an adequate, free public school education.

In its well reasoned opinion, the district court correctly recognized that the Legislature cannot, by statute, preempt the right granted to local school boards by the Florida Constitution to levy ad valorem taxes to support their schools. As the district court held, both Article VII, section 9 and Article IX, section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution expressly grant to school boards, not the Legislature, the authority to levy ad valorem taxes for school purposes. The court, therefore, properly invalidated the Legislature's attempt to usurp local school boards' constitutional right to levy ad valorem taxes within the constitution 10 mill limit.

Article VII, section 9, reads in pertinent part:

(a) Counties, school districts, and municipalities <a href="mailto:shall">shall</a>, and special districts may, <a href="mailto:be authorized by law">be authorized by law</a> to levy ad valorem taxes and may be authorized by general law to levy other taxes, . . . .

(b) Ad valorem taxes, . . . shall not be levied in excess of the following millages upon the assessed value of real estate and tangible personal property: . . . for all school purposes, ten mills . . .

## (Emphasis added.)

The term "shall" is mandatory. The district court held that this unequivocal constitutional command was itself sufficient to show that the School Board's power to levy ad valorem taxes is expressly authorized by the Florida Constitution. Notwithstanding this plain, mandatory language, DOE continues to argue that school districts have no authority to levy ad valorem taxes absent legislative authorization. In support of its argument, DOE cites dicta from the case of Wilson v. School Board of Marion County, 424 So.2d 16 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 434 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1983), in which the court stated that when taxing power is "exercised by a tax authority which does not have inherent power to tax, such as cities and school boards, courts read the statutes granting the tax power strictly." Id. at 19-20.

Wilson involved the method of levying taxes, not the Legislature's authority to limit the amount of taxes. The Wilson court simply held that the school board's tax levy was illegal and void where the board's notice of intent to levy was defective and not in substantial compliance with the statutory requirements for notice and publication. DOE's reliance on a single line of dicta in Wilson is misplaced; the Second District's opinion below demonstrates that school boards have been granted the authority to tax directly by the Constitution.

Regardless, DOE's entire argument concerning the genesis of a school board's right to tax only serves to obscure the true issue before the Court. Whether this Court concludes the Constitution itself gives school boards the direct authority to levy ad valorem taxes or whether it concludes the Constitution requires an act of the Legislature to accomplish precisely the same result, the real issue raised in this case is whether the Legislature can preempt a school board's right to tax (from whatever origin) by placing restrictions on the school board's right to independently determine millage rates. Caselaw as well as Dean D'Alemberte's commentary to the Florida Constitution of 1968 fully support the district court's conclusion that the Legislature has no such preemptory power.

In <u>Mallard v. Tele-Trip Co.</u>, 398 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 411 So.2d 384 (Fla. 1981), the First District Court of Appeal directly addressed the rights of counties to levy ad valorem taxes under Article VII, section 9. The <u>Mallard</u> court held that the use of the word "shall" in Article VII, section 9 requires the Legislature to authorize counties to levy taxes and that the Legislature "has no power to revoke the counties' authority to levy such taxes in part or in full." <u>Id</u>. at 973.

The First District has had occasion to speak to this issue again, albeit in dicta, in its recent opinion in <u>Board of County</u> <u>Commissioners v. Florida Department of Community Affairs</u>, 598 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). In that case, which involved the taxing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although <u>Mallard</u> involved counties, identical reasoning applies to school districts because they are treated identically under Article VII, section 9 of the Florida Constitution.

authority of special districts, the court stated that, although it need not directly reach the issue, "[t]he county persuasively argues that while the Legislature may place reasonable restrictions on the method of levying ad valorem taxes, it may not restrict the allowable amount which may be levied by a county." Id. at 184 (emphasis added).

The commentary to Article VII, section 9 of the Constitution fully concurs with this view. While DOE references a single line from the commentary which states that the section contemplates a legislative act,<sup>3</sup> DOE conveniently chooses to ignore the opening portions of the commentary which state:

This section <u>empowers</u> counties, <u>school</u> <u>districts</u> and municipalities <u>to levy ad valorem taxes</u> within the limitations of subsection (b) below.

The Revision Commission had recommended that counties and municipalities be authorized to levy any taxes for their respective purposes except those prohibited by the constitution. changed the That language was in constitution that only counties, so and school districts have municipalities constitutional authority to levy ad valorem The language, mandatory in tone, does contemplate a legislative act for they "shall be authorized by law" to levy ad valorem taxes....

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In fact the Legislature in §236.25(1) has given school boards the authority to levy ad valorem taxes as mandated by the Constitution. Section 236.25(1) has not been completely invalidated. The only portion of §236.25(1) that has been stricken is the provision infringing upon the School Board's right to levy nonvoted discretionary millage.

Commentary, Fla. Stat. Ann., Art. VII, §9, Fla. Const., pp. 142-43 (emphasis added).

Thus, even Dean D'Alemberte's own commentary explicitly recognizes that it is school districts which have the constitutional authority to levy ad valorem taxes. It is school districts, not the Legislature, which have been empowered to tax for school purposes up to the 10 mill limit embodied in Article VII, section 9(b). As the district court correctly found, neither the text of the Constitution nor the commentary indicates that the Legislature is to have any authority to levy ad valorem taxes or to restrict the school district's power to tax in any way.

In addition to the taxing authority guaranteed to school districts in Article VII, section 9, Article IX, section 4(b) also grants taxing authority to school districts. St. Johns County v. Northeast Florida Builders Association, Inc., 583 So.2d 635, 642 (Fla. 1991) ("[A]rticle IX, section 4(b) is only a grant of taxing authority to the school boards.").

Article IX, section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution commands school boards to "operate, control and supervise" all public schools within the district and to "determine the rate of school district taxes within the limits prescribed herein." (Emphasis added.) This express grant of authority to school boards requires even DOE to concede that "school districts can determine the rate of school district taxes . . . ." DOE brief at 33. DOE continues, however, by arguing that the School Board's authority to levy taxes is limited by the phrase "within the limits prescribed herein." As

the district court correctly held, the phrase "within the limits prescribed herein" obviously places a limitation on the School Board's authority but it is not a limitation that involves the Legislature in any way.

Clearly the Constitution's phrase "within the limits prescribed herein" refers generally to the Constitution itself and, specifically, to Article VII, section 9(b) which establishes millage limitations for school purposes. Certainly the framers of the Constitution did not include this phrase as a reference to any statutory law the Legislature might subsequently enact as DOE now appears to suggest. Indeed, the commentary to Article IX, section 4(b) discusses the clause "limiting the tax rate within the limits prescribed in the constitution" by referencing Article VII, section 9(b). Commentary, Fla. Stat. Ann., Art. IX, §4(b), Fla. Const., p. When Article IX, section 4(b) and Article VII, section 9(b) are properly read together, it is clear that the School Board has the right to determine the rate of school district taxes within the limits prescribed in the Constitution (i.e., 10 mills). See 1969 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 069-109 (November 14, 1969).

The millage limitations in Section 236.25(1), Florida Statutes, and Section 1, Item 509 of the Appropriations Act, contradict the clear intent of these constitutional provisions. In enacting these limits the Legislature has infringed upon the School Board's constitutional authority in the area of ad valorem taxation. The Legislature may not restrict and appropriate for itself the School Board's constitutional authority and obligation

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